1977

# Savery L. Nash v. Craigco, Inc. : Appeal Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant challenges the propriety of the dismissal by the Trial Court of his demand for punitive damages from defendant Craig Knight's breach of fiduciary duty to the plaintiff.

II. DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Trial Court directed a verdict in favor of the plaintiff on all issues except his demand for punitive damages and granted Craig Knight's motion for a directed verdict in his favor on that issue.

III. NATURE OF RELIEF ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks a ruling that he is entitled to punitive damages and a new trial on the issue of the amount to be awarded.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff and defendant agreed in January of 1975 to go into the business of developing real estate. (Transcript

of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, pages 11-13. Tr. 2.)<sup>1</sup>  
Pursuant to that agreement land was purchased in Salt Lake County.  
(Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, pages 13-15,  
16. Tr. 2, 4-5, Exhibits 1, 3, 9, 10, 24 and 25.) Financing  
arranged and a corporation, Craigco, Inc., was created. (Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, pages 19-20. Tr.  
44-45, Exhibits 7, 11, 16, 18, 24, 25 and 67.) Plaintiff organized the corporation, Craigco, Inc., raised the venture capital  
for the business, helped negotiate the land purchase and financing  
agreements and advanced funds to help defendant Craig Knight meet  
his living expenses during the organization and early construction  
phases of the development. (Transcript of Hearing held July 13  
and 14, 1976, pages 20-22. Tr. 7, 23-25, 26, 54-55, Exhibits  
3, 4, 7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23,  
24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 36, 47, 48, 49, 50,  
51, 52, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60 and 67.) Craigco entered into the  
Real Estate Development known as Fox Hills Subdivision and defendant  
Craig Knight supervised the construction of 31 of the planned  
96 homes in the project. (Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and  
14, 1976, pages 167-170. Tr. 17, 57, Exhibits 14, 15, 20, 24 and  
25.)

Craigco, Inc. was formed with the issuance of 1,000  
shares. (Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, 21.

---

1. Tr. refers to the transcript of the trial proceedings  
for February 3, 1977.

Tr. 50, Exhibit 12.) Plaintiff did not desire, because of involvement with other businesses, to take shares in Craigco, Inc. at the time of its organization (Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, pages 21-25), so all 1,000 shares were issued to defendant by Craig Knight and plaintiff paid defendant Craig Knight the sum of \$10.00 for an option to purchase 501 of the 1,000 shares in Craigco, Inc. (Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, pages 21, 23-25. Tr. 50, Exhibit 12.) In entering into this Agreement the parties agreed that the plaintiff was ultimately to have 501 shares of the 1,000 shares to be issued which would give him voting control of the corporation. (Tr. 50, Exhibit 12.)

Phase I of the project (31 homes) had been substantially completed and the success of the development was apparent by May of 1976 when Craig Knight caused the corporation to issue to himself and his wife, defendant Cathy Knight, 14,700 shares of stock in exchange for undeveloped land owned by them in Colorado. (Tr. 63-65, Exhibits 46, 61, 62 and 68.) On June 9, 1976, plaintiff paid defendant Craig Knight \$501.00 in order to exercise his option for the 501 shares of stock in Craigco, Inc. (Tr. 37, 39, Exhibits 40 and 46.) About two weeks thereafter, defendant Craig Knight informed plaintiff that the new stock issue had occurred and of the dilution of plaintiff's interest in Craigco. (Tr. 39-40, Exhibits 40 and 46.) Defendant Craig Knight knew by this time that the whole Fox Hills project had been highly successful. (Tr. 63-65, Exhibits 61 and 62.)



When the plaintiff had the exercise of his option refused and learned of the purported issuance of stock for land, he filed the instant action requesting the Court to order defendant Craig Knight to convey to him 501 of the 1,000 shares of the capital stock of Craigco, Inc., to force rescission of the purported exchange of the Colorado property for the additional stock of Craigco, Inc., and for punitive damages based upon the breach of fiduciary duty by Craig Knight. (Tr. 2-11.) These issues were tried to a jury on January 31 and February 1, 2 and 3, 1977, the Honorable G. Hal Taylor presiding. At the conclusion of the presentation of evidence, Judge Taylor directed a verdict in favor of the plaintiff compelling defendant Craig Knight to convey to him 501 shares of the common stock of Craigco, Inc. and return the 14,700 shares to defendant Craigco, Inc. for cancellation, thus rescinding the stock for raw land transaction between defendants Craig and Cathy Knight and defendant Craigco. He also directed a verdict in favor of defendant Craig Knight<sup>2</sup> as to the request for punitive damages against defendant Craig Knight. (Tr. 12, 20-21.)<sup>3</sup>

#### V. ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING AGAINST THE PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES AND NOT ALLOWING THE DETERMINATION OF THE AMOUNT THEREOF TO GO TO THE JURY.

---

2. Plaintiff had dropped the request for punitive damages as to defendants Cathy Knight and Craigco, Inc. before Judge Taylor made this ruling.

3. The transcript is divided into two portions. The second series of pages commences after page 82.

Defendant Craig Knight was a fiduciary of plaintiff Savery Nash at the time he tried to destroy Nash's interest in Craigco. He knew this was the situation when he took the actions challenged in this matter. (Tr. 59-60.) He should be ruled liable for punitive damages by this Court for his wilful breach of fiduciary duty to the plaintiff.

Craig Knight acknowledged he owed a fiduciary duty to the plaintiff and was advised of this by his counsel. (Tr. 59-60.) He was a fiduciary if he was viewed as a partner, Bates v. Simpson, 121 Utah 165, 239 P.2d 749 (1952); Kaumans v. White Star Gas & Oil Co., 92 Utah 24, 63 P.2d 231 (1936); Wasatch Livestock Loan Co. v. Lewis & Sharp, 84 Utah 347, 35 P.2d 835 (1934); Lane v. Petersen, 68 Utah 585, 251 Pac. 374 (1926); Forbes v. Butler, 66 Utah 373, 242 Pac. 950 (1926); Sharp v. Sharp, 54 Utah 262, 180 Pac. 580 (1919); Nelson v. Matesch, 38 Utah 122, 110 Pac. 865 (1910); see also §48-1-6, Utah Code Annotated, 1953; Comment a, §14A, Restatement of Agency 2d; §13, Restatement of Agency 2d, or as the chief operating officer of the corporation. Pepper v. Litton, 308 U.S. 295 (1939); Superintendent of Insurance v. Banker's Life & Casualty Co., 404 U.S. 6 (1971); Sweeney v. Happy Valley, Inc., 18 Utah 2d 113, 417 P.2d 126 (1966); Funk v. Spalding, 74 Ariz. 219, 246 P.2d 184 (1952); see also Jolin v. Oster, 55 Wisc. 2d 199, 198 N.W.2d 639 (1972); McDonald v. McDonald, 53 Wisc. 2d 371, 192 N.W.2d 903 (1972); Jolin v. Oster, 44 Wisc. 2d 623, 172 N.W.2d 12 (1970); Arditi v. Dubitzky, 354

F.2d 483 (2d Cir. 1965); Elsbach v. Mulligan, 136 P.2d 651 (Cal. 1943). His duties as a fiduciary included the responsibilities of (i) performance of all agreements which preceded incorporation; Jolin v. Oster, 55 Wisc. 2d 199, 198 N.W.2d 639 (1972); McDonald v. McDonald, supra; Jolin v. Oster, 44 Wisc. 2d 623, 172 N.W.2d 12 (1970); Helms v. Duckworth, 249 F.2d 482 (D.C.Cir. 1957); Elsbach v. Mulligan, supra; (ii) provision of full disclosure, fair dealing and open and honest communication; and (iii) not taking unfair advantage of Savery Nash, Nelson v. Matesch, supra; Jolin v. Oster, 55 Wisc. 2d 199, 198 N.W.2d 639 (1972); McDonald v. McDonald, supra; Jolin v. Oster, 44 Wisc. 2d 623, 172 N.W.2d 12 (1970); Elsbach v. Mulligan, supra; Arditi v. Dubitzky, supra.

Defendant Craig Knight violated each and every one of these duties. He refused to honor the exercise of the stock option by the plaintiff though he knew it was valid. (Tr. 67-68, Exhibit 46.) He tried to dilute the interest of the plaintiff and force him out of Craigco, Inc. by taking advantage of the position and knowledge that he had as the chief executive operating officer of that corporation. (Tr. 36-40, 60-61, Exhibits 47 and 68.) These actions were done willfully and knowingly. (Tr. 36-40, 59-60, 67-68, Exhibit 46.) They were done despite and in the face of Craig Knight's knowledge that he had a duty to deal with plaintiff in good faith and these actions violated this duty. (Tr. 59-60.) They were done with the knowledge that if

acted as he did, the plaintiff would sue him to enforce the original agreement and to force him to carry out his responsibilities. (Tr. 61.) He acted as he did despite being advised that plaintiff would be successful in such action. (Tr. 61, lines 13 and 14.)

This Court has held that whenever there is a violation of duty springing from a relationship of trust or confidence and the wrong is gross and aggravated, the malicious conduct necessary to justify punitive damages can be found. Holland v. Moreton, 10 Utah 2d 390, 353 P.2d 989 (1960). In the instant case, Craig Knight testified that he took the actions of causing Craigco, Inc. to issue 14,700 shares of stock to himself and his wife (which action would have destroyed the ownership interest of the plaintiff in Craigco, Inc.) deliberately and with the intention of taking away from Savery Nash his ownership interest in the venture. (Tr. 36-40, 61, Exhibit 46.) He refused to comply with the exercise of the option by Savery Nash in order to prevent his acquisition of a record ownership despite his knowledge of the validity of the option and its exercise. (Tr. 36-40, 67-68, Exhibit 46.) Since these actions were deliberate and intentional violations of his fiduciary duty, Knight was liable to Nash for punitive damages and the determination of the amount should have gone to the jury. Smoot v. Lund, 13 Utah 2d 168, 369 P.2d 933 (1962); Evans v. Gaisford, 122 Utah 156, 247 P.2d 431 (1952); Calhoun v. Universal Credit Co., 106 Utah 166, 146 P.2d 284

(1944). The fact that he knew his actions would be set aside by the Courts (Tr. 61, lines 13 and 14) merely emphasizes his culpability.

This Court has held that the reason for the awarding of punitive damages is to punish a defendant who has acted maliciously as a warning to others not to engage in similar conduct. Evans v. Gaisford, supra. In the instant case the Trial Court should, pursuant to this policy, have found defendant Craig Knight liable for punitive damages and sent the question of the amount to the jury. The Trial Court declined to do so because defendant Craig Knight had consulted with his attorney before acting and because only equitable relief was sought in this action. It is respectfully submitted that the Trial Court was wrong in both rulings.

There is no question from the testimony of Craig Knight that he was advised by counsel that if he took the action which led to this lawsuit, he would be sued and Nash would prevail. (Tr. 61, lines 13 and 14.) Nevertheless, he chose to take the actions which were challenged by the plaintiff in this action as found to be illegal by the Trial Court. He thus acted with knowledge of his duties and the consequences of his acts. (Tr. 61, 63.) He was a fiduciary of the plaintiff, he was warned that violation of these duties would violate plaintiff's rights (Tr. 59, 61), yet proceeded with his illegal actions. On these grounds alone, the fact that he acted maliciously and abused his position

as a fiduciary were established. The ruling by the Trial Judge that because he had consulted with his counsel he did not act maliciously was not correct. It defies logic to say that if a client speaks with his counsel, learns that if he takes certain actions he will violate his duties and he is then sued by the wronged party, that he will be insulated from paying an award of punitive damages simply because the wrongdoer had consulted with his counsel before acting. In fact, it demonstrates that the wrongdoer had the full knowledge of the consequences of his actions and by proceeding to act despite such warning he clearly had the requisite intent which is to be punished by punitive damages. If anything, this showing should require the Trial Court to determine that a basis for punitive damages has been established as a matter of law which requires the jury to determine solely the question of an appropriate amount.

The second aspect of the Trial Court ruling; that is, that punitive damages be awarded when only legal relief has been sought, has not been determined by this Court. The Supreme Court of the State of Idaho has discussed and resolved this question. In the decision Village of Peck v. Denison, 92 Ida. 747, 450 P.2d 310 (1969), that Court ruled that punitive damages may be awarded when only equitable relief is sought by the plaintiff. In that case the plaintiff sought equitable relief, the quieting title to water rights and the enjoining of interference with the use of those water rights. The Trial Court granted punitive damages in

the amount of \$6,000 despite the fact that no actual damages had been prayed for or awarded. The defendant appealed the award of punitive damages. The Idaho Supreme Court first found that the evidence supported the findings that the defendant had acted willfully and maliciously, then held that actual damages were a pre-condition to the award of punitive damages. The Court stated:

The absence of a showing of actual damages need not bar an award of punitive damages, where such a showing is not the telemanic necessity. The reason for such a requirement is that it first insures that some legally protected interest has been invaded. It prevents the assessment of punitive damages against one who may have caused damage without legal injury. There is no reason why an award of equitable relief may not fulfill the same function, for in either case it is necessary first to show an invasion of some legally protected interest. 450 P.2d at 314-315.

While the majority of the Court concurred in the ruling, Justice McFadden, in a concurring and dissenting opinion, discussed extensively the cases which dealt with the question of an award of punitive damages where the plaintiff sought only equitable relief. He pointed out that the majority had simply made the statement quoted above without explaining that in fact this ruling moved Idaho away from the prior existing general rule that punitive damages were not awarded in equitable actions. Justice McFadden pointed out that the general rule that no punitive damages can be awarded when only equitable relief is sought by plaintiff was based on separate systems of law and equity. He

pointed out that Idaho (as Utah) has done away with the dual systems and now has a single form of action whether the relief sought is equitable or legal. He pointed out that all of the modern cases dealing with this question have ruled that since there is a single form of action, there is no basis for artificially distinguishing between a legal action and an equitable action. He pointed out that the modern cases held that if the malicious actions which justify an award of punitive damages exist, they should be available in either equity or law. The fact that in a legal action they normally bear some relationship to the damages suffered by the plaintiff should not be a prohibiting factor in their award. They can still bear a relationship to the equitable relief being granted which can be tested by the Courts. 450 P.2d 315-319.

The Idaho Supreme Court thereafter reaffirmed its ruling and rationale in the decision of Lewiston Pistol Club, Inc. v. Imthurm, 94 Ida. 264, 486 P.2d 275, 277 (1971).

At the commencement of the instant case, the Trial Court issued a Preliminary Injunction after two days of hearings barring the defendant Craig Knight from violating his fiduciary duties to the plaintiff. When the full trial was completed, the Court continued that injunction and ordered the defendants to rescind the illegal acts taken. Craig Knight was determined by the Trial Court to have acted illegally and equitable relief was granted against him but the Trial Court then erred in not ruling



that plaintiff was entitled to punitive damages and submitting the question of amount to the jury.

This Court has declared that the purpose of punitive damages is to serve as an additional penalty against a party who has acted in a willful and malicious manner. They are to serve as a warning to others not to engage in similar conduct. Kesler v. Rogers, 542 P.2d 354 (Utah, 1975); Palombi v. D & C Builders, 22 Utah 2d 297, 452 P.2d 325 (1969); Holland v. Moreton, *supra*. This recognizes the fact that it is the legal interest invaded which gives rise to punitive damages rather than the type of relief which has been granted or sought. This should be the basis of awarding of punitive damages, not the technical distinction between an action at law or equity. In this action, injury was inflicted on the plaintiff. The injury of the plaintiff is no less real because the relief he sought was equitable rather than monetary damages. The defendant is equally culpable for acting in a willful and malicious manner. The Trial Court should have found the plaintiff entitled to punitive damages and submitted the question of amount to the jury rather than ruling as a matter of law they could not be awarded and directing the jury to so determine.

## VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should reverse the ruling of the Trial Court directing the jury in favor of the defendant Craig Knight and against the plaintiff, rule plaintiff entitled to punitive damages.

and order a retrial of the issue of the amount of punitive damages  
sought by the plaintiff against the defendant, Craig Knight.