1977

Savery L. Nash v. Craigco, Inc. : Appeal Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a directed verdict in favor of defendant on the issue of whether punitive damages should be awarded in a suit to rescind an issuance of corporate stock.

II. DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

In a jury trial, the Trial Court granted appellant's motion for a directed verdict rescinding the stock issuance of which appellant complained, but also granted defendant's motion for a directed verdict on the issue of whether punitive damages could be recovered against Defendant-Respondent Craig A. Knight.

III. NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent asks this Court to affirm the Trial Court's directed verdict refusing to permit the jury to consider the issue of punitive damages.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent considers appellant's statement of facts to be inaccurate and incomplete and, as to certain key statements, unsupported by the record. Respondent submits, therefore, the following summary of those facts material to the punitive damages issue.

Plaintiff Savery L. Nash and Defendant Craig A. Knight entered into a series of oral agreements between December of 1974 and March of 1975. (Record 3-4, Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, pages 11-12.) The parties started a housing development, named Fox Hills, and formed a corporation, Craigco, Inc., (Exhibit 7) which came to own the Fox Hills project (Exhibit 1, Tr. 12-19). Plaintiff Nash claimed that the agreement between the parties gave him control of Craigco, Inc. (Record 2 (paragraph 6); Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, page 21), and that because he did not want to appear as the record holder of a majority of Craigco's stock, he took an option on 501 of Craigco's 1,000 shares of stock (Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, page 23, page 107). Plaintiff Nash alleged that he had performed his obligations under the agreement which he claimed gave him the right to control Craigco, Inc.; in particular that he had pursued and obtained financing for the project (Record 3, paragraph 7 of Plaintiff's Complaint).

Defendant Knight denied that Plaintiff Nash had performed his part of the agreement or agreements between the parties, and especially denied that Mr. Nash provided financing for the building project as he agreed to do. (Record 27-28, paragraphs 5 and 6 Affidavit in Opposition to Motion for Temporary Restraining Order; Record 59-60, paragraph 5 of Second Defense and full text of Third Defense; Tr. 5-9).

At trial, Plaintiff Nash claimed that he agreed only to locate sources of financing (Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, pages 86-89); while Defendant Knight claimed that Mr. Nash had promised to provide the necessary financing, and that Mr. Nash had represented that he had ample financial assets because he owned two insurance companies (Tr. 80, 5, 29) which Nash had valued at \$516,000 on his financial statement (Exhibit 55).

Plaintiff claimed that he performed his part of the agreement by arranging for Craigco to obtain "front end money" by entering into a limited partnership (Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, pages 12, 27, 20). Defendant Knight claimed that the agreement between the parties called for plaintiff to provide the funds necessary to finance the project in return for obtaining control of Craigco, Inc., and claimed that plaintiff breached this agreement when, in order to get the necessary financing, he arranged for Craigco to enter a limited

partnership under terms which required Craigco to pay approximately \$55,000 to a corporation apparently wholly owned by Plaintiff Nash (Antlers, Inc.) and to a personal friend of Mr. Nash's in return for loans totalling \$30,000. (Tr. 7, 28, 34-35; Exhibit 65 at page 5).

Defendant Knight also claimed that plaintiff breached the agreement at issue by failing to provide those legal and negotiating services which he agreed would be part of his contribution to the partnership. (Tr. 22-25, 28, 31-34).

Mr. Knight consulted an attorney and reviewed his obligations and duties to Mr. Nash and to Craigco, Inc., and at the suggestion of his attorney, elected to transfer to the corporation a piece of real property which he and his wife owned in return for 14,700 shares of additional stock. (Tr. 36-37). Plaintiff Nash was informed of this issuance, and of Mr. Knight's reasons for deciding that Mr. Nash was not entitled to assume control of the corporation. (Exhibit 46).

Mr. Nash then brought this suit to set aside the issuance of the additional shares of stock, and to require transfer to him of sufficient stock to give him voting control of Craigco Inc. The Trial Court declined to submit to the jury the question of whether Mr. Nash had performed his part of the oral agreement or agreements between himself and Mr. Knight. The Trial Court apparently based its ruling on the fact that the company's books

indicated that at the time the additional stock was issued, the reduction thus caused in the value of Mr. Nash's interest in Craigco was disproportionate to the value of the property transferred to Craigco in return for the additional stock. (Tr. 16-23 [Second portion of transcript]).

After subsequent motions and hearings on the form of relief which should be ordered, the Trial Court entered judgment ordering Defendant Knight to rescind the issuance of the additional stock, to convey to Plaintiff Nash 501 shares of the remaining 1,000 shares of Craigco's stock, and denying Plaintiff Nash's claim for punitive damages. (Record 252-53).

V. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE FROM WHICH THE JURY COULD FIND THAT DEFENDANT CRAIG A. KNIGHT ACTED MALICIOUSLY IN ISSUING ADDITIONAL SHARES OF STOCK IN CRAIGCO, INC.

The evidence in this case shows that Defendant Knight's action in issuing additional shares of stock was based on a good faith claim that Plaintiff Nash had breached the agreement or agreements under which Mr. Nash claimed the right to take control of Craigco, Inc. This action was taken on the advice of counsel, and was communicated to Plaintiff Nash under circumstances which permitted him to challenge Mr. Knight's actions by filing this suit less than two months after the issuance of the extra stock. (Record 26-27, Record 6). The issuance of the additional stock,

even though now adjudged a wrongful act, is not a sufficient basis to award punitive damages. Amoss v. Broadbent, 30 U.2d 165, 514 P.2d 1284 (1973). In the Amoss case, the trial court permitted an award of compensatory damages based on the jury having found that defendant had converted some cattle belonging to plaintiff. The Amoss trial court also permitted the jury to award punitive damages based on defendant's act of converting the cattle. This Court affirmed the award of compensatory damages based on the conversion, but reversed the award of punitive damages on the ground that, although the record showed that the defendant had behaved in a somewhat high handed way, the record also showed that defendant had acted under a claim of right. Having acted under a claim of right, albeit a claim which later was held to be unfounded, the defendant's conduct was held to be inconsistent, as a matter of law, with the kind of wanton or malicious conduct required to sustain an award of punitive damages.

The case of Kesler v. Rogers, 542 P.2d 354 (1975) held that punitive damages could be awarded where the evidence "was so substantial and persuasive that it could hardly be open to doubt...." That the defendant knew at the time he acted (also to take possession of some cattle) that he had no good faith claim to the cattle. In Kesler, this finding was predicated primarily on the fact that the defendant had represented that he owned the

brand which was on the cattle in question. It was readily determined that defendant owned no such brand, and the jury also answered interrogatories finding that defendant had knowledge, before the acts complained of, that he had no good faith claim to ownership of the cattle. 542 P.2d at 358-359.

The Kesler case does not purport to overrule the Amoss opinion of two years earlier, so it would appear that the two cases should be construed in a harmonious way. The synthesis which results from reading the two cases together appears to be that unless the evidence compels the conclusion that the claim of right is made fraudulently or in bad faith, action taken pursuant to a claim of right cannot be the basis for punitive damages. This interpretation is consistent with the comment in the Kesler opinion to the effect that punitive damages are an extraordinary remedy which should be applied with caution. 524 P.2d at 359.

Appellant contends at three different places in his brief that Mr. Knight's testimony which appears at lines 13 and 14 of page 61 of the transcript establishes without question the proposition that Defendant Knight knew when he issued the additional stock that the issuance would be set aside. This contention is not supported by the record. In the testimony upon which appellant relies so heavily and exclusively, Mr. Knight said [quoting his attorney]:

- A. He said, "It appears like Mr. Nash has provided certain legal work. And he

has provided certain financial assistance even though it seems to be less than agreed upon," and that the outcome of my stock transfer would no doubt yield to a lawsuit.

This response is at least as consistent with the hypothesis that Mr. Knight was saying only that he was advised that an issuance would lead to, or result in, a lawsuit as it is with appellant's hypothesis that it establishes with certainty the proposition that Mr. Knight was told that there was no doubt he would lose any suit brought to challenge the issuance. There is no doubt that Mr. Knight feared that Mr. Nash was predisposed to sue him (Tr. 60, lines 8-12), but lines 11-13 of the very passage on which appellant relies so strongly states that Mr. Knight's attorney was advising him that the financial assistance actually provided by Mr. Nash seemed to be less than what was agreed upon. Read as a whole, the pleadings and the transcript simply do not support the conclusion that Defendant Knight knew at the time of the stock issue that he had no good faith claim that appellant had breached his oral agreement or agreements with defendant.

It also seems significant that it was Mr. Nash who approached Defendant Knight and suggested going into business together. (Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, page 10). Mr. Nash was at that time an attorney with some seven years of corporate practice (Transcript of Hearing held July 13 and 14, 1976, pages 10 and 81). Despite this background, Mr. Nash elected to use an oral agreement, or a series of oral agreements, to enter into business with Mr. Knight. If Mr. Nash had been concerned

to eliminate questions about what he needed to do in order to enjoy the benefits of the controlling position into which he placed himself, he was uniquely well qualified to do so. Having chosen to leave his duties open to the conflicting interpretations which should be expected of oral agreements, it seems singularly inappropriate for Mr. Nash to contend that the Court should readily conclude that Mr. Knight lacked a good faith basis for his claim that Mr. Nash had forfeited his right to control of Craigco, Inc.

Appellant presents extensive citations to the effect that Defendant Knight was in a position in which he had certain fiduciary obligations to appellant. Appellant then cites Holland v. Moreton, 10 U.2d 390, 353 P.2d 989 (1960), as if that case imposes a different standard for punitive damages where fiduciary duties may be held to exist between the parties. Holland v. Moreton states no such rule. The Holland opinion states expressly that in a case involving claimed breach of fiduciary duty, there must be found both a breach of such duty, together with conduct malicious in nature. The Holland opinion shows that fiduciary duty cases are also subject to the rule stated in Powers v. Taylor, 14 U.2d 152, 379 P.2d 380 (1963):

"Whether [punitive] damages are awardable is not dependent upon the classification of the act, nor upon the nature of the injury, but upon the manner and intent with which it is done." 14 U.2d at 155.

Measured from the position and perception of Defendant Knight, as of the time he decided to issue additional stock, appellant's rights were restricted to those derived from oral agreements which apparently established either a partnership or joint venture, and which Defendant Knight claimed had been breached, and to those derived from an option to purchase corporate stock. These circumstances were inherently ripe with possibility for dispute as to whether fiduciary duties still existed between Knight and Nash. Defendant Knight was advised that his fiduciary duty to Mr. Nash would be discharged by informing Nash of the share issuance, and that was done within a month of the issuance. (Tr. 60, Exhibit 46).

Appellant does not make a showing that the record contains significant evidence to support the conclusion that Defendant Knight acted with malice. On the contrary, the record shows that Mr. Knight believed that appellant had not complied with the agreement which gave rise to his having an option to acquire control of Craigco, Inc. (Tr. 62). He was afraid that if he did not act to retain control of the corporation, appellant would take control, leaving Defendant Knight personally obligated to guarantee the corporation's extensive loans. (Tr. 66, 75-76). Mr. Knight sought the advice of counsel and elected to follow one of the courses of action suggested to him by counsel. (Tr. 36). Under these circumstances, the Trial Court correctly ruled

(See court's remarks, Tr., second section, at page 12) that punitive damages were not allowable.